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INTRODUCTION



THE MANILA AMERICAN CEMETERY, LOCATED ON 152 ACRES just a few miles outside the Philippine capital, memorializes 36,285 soldiers and sailors who fought and died under the American flag somewhere in the Pacific during the Second World War. To enter here is somehow to leave the noise and pace of twenty-first-century Manila. The spacious grounds, maintained more carefully than a golf course, offer the city’s freshest air and its greenest grass. From a hilltop near the former site of the US Army’s Fort McKinley, the cemetery and its central memorial command remarkable views of the skyscrapers and apartment buildings of a booming Asian metropolis, rolling hills to the east, and the hazy sunsets over Manila Bay that cast shadows over the white marble gravestones. As a memorial to the sacrifices of war, the cemetery is altogether fitting and proper.


It is also, on most days, remarkably empty. The first time I visited, I was one of the only Americans there. The guestbook listed Australians, Indians, Japanese, several local residents enjoying the breezy Sunday afternoon, and just one other American: a woman from Burbank, California, with a typical Filipino surname. Perhaps she was a balikbayan—a returning migrant—home for a visit and there to pay respects. Even in Manila, it is easy to overlook this place. Neighboring Fort McKinley is gone, turned over in 1949 to the Armed Forces of the Philippines, and more recently replaced in part by an upscale shopping center known simply as The Fort.


In the quiet moments that predominate on that Manila hilltop, the names of the dead tell a shared history of two nations bound by a century of war. As the stones attest, the US military has been in the Philippines for a long time, beginning in 1898 when America conquered the Spanish colony and annexed it to the United States, then in the years from 1898 to 1946 when the Philippines was a US colony, and in the decades since independence, when the Philippines has been an American ally in Asia.


Filipinos have been in the US armed forces for just as long. Beginning in 1899 and continuing to this day, hundreds of thousands of Filipinos and Filipino Americans have served under the American flag. The first were the Philippine Scouts, recruited into Uncle Sam’s service by US Army officers eager to defeat the Filipino independence struggle they referred to as the “Philippine Insurrection.” Over time, the Army’s temporary tool of counterinsurgency became America’s permanent mode of colonial rule, and by the 1920s Philippine Scouts outnumbered US soldiers in the territory. In the years between the two world wars, thousands of Filipinos joined the US Navy, some enlisting in the Philippines, others in the United States, nearly all of them restricted to bottom-rung positions as cooks and stewards. The Second World War called up hundreds of thousands more. About 7,000 Filipino migrants in the United States joined the US Army’s First and Second Filipino Regiments; more than 120,000 served in the ranks of the doomed Philippine Army that met the invading Japanese force in 1942; at least 70,000 men and women fought in the guerrilla movements that battled Japanese occupation. The walls of the Manila American Cemetery include some of these names.


The memorial does a better job of recording Filipinos’ wartime service than most history books do. Walking down the east colonnade devoted to the US Army, it is hard to miss the overwhelming number of Philippine Scouts recorded there—whole columns filled with names such as Gonzales or Torres or Velasco. Across the way, on the colonnade that honors the US Navy, the names and ratings of the missing and dead tell the same story of service and sacrifice: Steward’s Mate Second Class, Mess Attendant, Water Tender, Cook. These men, too, went down with the ship, from the morning of December 7, 1941, to the summer of 1945. Some 64,000 of the 76,000 prisoners on the Bataan Death March were Filipinos who served under the American flag. Yet most of those men waited until 2009 to receive equitable veterans benefits from the US government. But what were they doing in the US armed forces in the first place? And why did they wait so long?


We know the story of one of them, a man by the name of Pastor Amarillento. In December 1991, newly arrived in San Francisco from the Philippines, he walked proudly out of the city’s federal courthouse with his US naturalization certificate in hand. The seventy-four-year-old Amarillento had become a US citizen under the provisions of a 1990 law extending citizenship to veterans of the Philippine Army who, like him, had fought for the United States during World War II. He bought a bus ticket to Los Angeles, where he planned to stay with his cousin. On the way to Los Angeles, a pickpocket stole Amarillento’s last two hundred dollars. He tried to find his cousin, only to be told by a cab driver that her address was fifty miles away in Orange County. The sun was setting, and then it was gone, and Pastor Amarillento spent the night in a park in the City of Angels. And the next. And the next. Only then did he find his way to the Filipino-American Service Group, a shelter in Filipinotown just west of downtown, where a Christmas party was under way. Amarillento was a veteran, a sergeant in the army of the Greatest Generation, a man who marched under General Douglas MacArthur, only to find himself, fifty years later, sleeping in MacArthur Park. How did Douglas MacArthur get to the Philippines? And how did Pastor Amarillento end up in a park named after the general?1


Bound by War begins with those questions. Answering them requires a history of the soldiers and sailors who crossed the Pacific, of two nations bound together by the wars they fought there, and of the century they built together.


IN NOVEMBER 2011, US SECRETARY OF STATE HILLARY CLINTON announced the beginning of “America’s Pacific Century.” The administration of President Barack Obama, she explained, would now “pivot to new global realities” in Asia. Clinton’s claim to novelty would have surprised the naval strategist Alfred Thayer Mahan, who had written in 1890 that “whether they will or no, Americans must now begin to look outward” toward the Pacific. And it would have startled the Filipinos and Americans who crossed the Pacific in uniform in the decades after America’s ships first steamed into Manila Bay during the Spanish-American War. They would have known that by the time Hillary Clinton announced it, the Pacific Century was already a hundred years old. After all, they were the ones who had built it.2


One of the first to enlist was Gaudencio Verceies, a twenty-three-year-old hotel clerk in Washington, DC, who joined the United States Navy in 1908. Verceies soon found himself bound from Norfolk, Virginia, on the battleship USS Georgia. He was one of two Filipino sailors who participated in the global voyage of the Great White Fleet, the US Navy’s 1908 round-the-world tour. The brainchild of President Theodore Roosevelt, the Great White Fleet was meant to send a message to the established power of Britain and the rising empires of Germany and Japan. It was a clear symbol that America had officially embraced an imperial identity, taking up “The White Man’s Burden” that British poet Rudyard Kipling laid out in his poem, written for American audiences and published in February 1899 with a now-forgotten subtitle, “The United States and the Philippine Islands.” The Great White Fleet might not be the place one would expect to find Gaudencio Verceies, one of those whom Kipling dismissively described as America’s “new-caught sullen peoples.” Verceies spent his entire career in the Navy, and in April 1917, in an interview published on “The Student’s Page” of the Philippines Free Press, he urged young readers to enlist in the world war the United States had just joined. “We have plenty of good food… and the pay is good. And then there is the opportunity to see the world, to learn about the people of other countries… I should say it is a golden opportunity for Filipino young men of ambition.”3


Pacific service was also an opportunity for ambitious young Americans. In May 1898, twenty-two-year-old Joseph Evans sailed for the Philippines from San Francisco, assuring his brother back home in Oregon that “this trip is nothing but a vacation—we will have lots of fun.” His fellow soldier Mark Bocek, who joined up in Baltimore in 1909, saw matters differently. “I seen a beautiful poster there, nice uniform and palm trees,” he explained decades later. “They didn’t tell me about the hard life. They sure didn’t tell you nothing. On the other side was a pick and shovel, that you had to work.” Like Gaudencio Verceies, men such as Evans and Bocek also made their history in the Pacific. Service in the Philippines transformed Americans’ sense of the United States in the world. In Philippine barrios and jungles, Americans earned the Medal of Honor, handed chocolates to civilian children, and married war brides. The Philippines was where American forces built their first big overseas military bases, where they learned to use napalm, where they mastered the techniques of torture.4


What began as a Pacific moment in 1898 became a Pacific Century for both nations. Filipinos’ military service didn’t stop when the United States granted Philippine independence in 1946, because America’s Pacific ambitions didn’t end then, either. The Philippines shifted from colony to ally and Japan from enemy to friend. The Cold War soon burned hot in Korea and Vietnam. War in Asia meant that even with independence, the two nations and their soldiers and sailors would continue to serve together. In 1947, a bilateral agreement guaranteed the United States access to twenty-three military bases in the new nation—and soon provided for the enlistment of up to 2,000 Philippine citizens a year in the US Navy. In the 1960s, planes landed at Clark Air Base from South Vietnam; American sailors arrived at Subic Bay Naval Station for leave; Philippine Army medics departed for Saigon. A generation later, Operation Enduring Freedom undertook military action not only in Afghanistan, but the southern Philippines as well. As the United States began its war on Iraq in 2003, the Defense Manpower Data Center estimated that 31,000 noncitizens wore the uniforms of the US armed forces, about 20 percent of them Filipinos. And through it all, countless other Filipinos and Filipino Americans who never wore a uniform were affected by the service of those who did: all the people who worked for or near the US military; civilian farmers and factory workers who produced food, weapons, and airplanes; spouses who kept families going during sailors’ long absences at sea; young protestors demanding equal treatment for aging veterans; a woman from Burbank walking in a cemetery on a Sunday afternoon.


For both Filipinos and Americans, Bound by War retells the history of the United States from a Pacific perspective. The Pacific is an ocean, an array of societies living in it and around it, and a field for the projection of American power. The adjective means peaceful—the Pacific’s modern history was anything but. A Pacific history tells something more than the history of the United States in the Pacific, or indeed the history of either the United States or the Philippines. Like Filipinos and Americans in the twentieth century, a Pacific history crosses the boundaries of both nations to show the connections between them: an unbroken cord that hitched the destinies of two countries to the military and foreign policy priorities of the United States.


WAR SHAPED EVERY ASPECT OF THE PACIFIC CENTURY, FROM how Americans and Filipinos thought about each other to how they lived together. Those connections built Filipino America. They transformed the Philippines. And they made US power in Asia first possible, and then permanent.


For most of the twentieth century, service in the US armed forces offered the clearest path to migration and US citizenship for Filipinos who wanted it. It’s not hard to see traces of this on the landscape, as some of the communities with the greatest number of Filipino Americans also happen to be US Navy towns: Vallejo, California, near Mare Island Naval Shipyard; National City, near Naval Station San Diego; Norfolk and Virginia Beach, near Hampton Roads. In 2020 the United States counts over four million Filipino Americans, one of the nation’s fastest-growing ethnic groups. Many trace their family histories to a father or an uncle in a US military uniform, and when they don’t, someone else’s father or uncle casts a shadow. Military service also provided Filipino Americans a language of patriotism and sacrifice—and therefore of equality. Immigrants and their children used those words, not only to wage a decades-long struggle for equity for World War II veterans, but to find a place for themselves in America, making their service part of America’s military history, making their protests and lawsuits part of its civil rights legacy, handing down mindsets and memories of war and the military from one generation to the next.5


In both the Philippines and the United States, the Pacific Century bound together high politics and ordinary soldiering. It can be seen at the highest levels in the stories of several of the nation’s twentieth-century leaders: Emilio Aguinaldo, the leader of the Philippine Revolution, who died in a US veterans’ hospital with the American national anthem on his lips; Manuel Quezon, a former revolutionary soldier turned US government informant who led the Philippine independence movement for three decades; Ramon Magsaysay, hand-picked for the presidency by CIA officers; Fidel Ramos, a graduate not of the Philippine Military Academy but of West Point; and Ferdinand Marcos, who presented himself as a daring guerrilla fighter with a chest full of US Army medals, only to see his heroism unmasked and his regime overthrown by a popular revolution that he watched on American television news.


Generations of military service shaped Philippine politics, and America’s, too. Even at the White House. Thanks to a provision of Navy bureaucracy, the domestic duties at the US presidential residence were long managed by the US Navy, and decades of recruiting Filipinos for positions as messmen and stewards meant that for most of the twentieth century, the first person the American president saw when he got up in the morning was a Filipino sailor in an American uniform. US power in the Pacific could be exercised—or experienced—at a great distance or a very close one. The US-Philippine relationship was and is an uneven partnership, and Bound by War accounts for the violence and racial discrimination that Filipino servicemen experienced. Going beyond foreign policy, this is a history of foreign relations: the political, military, and personal bonds that Americans and Filipinos forged in the Pacific.


Those connections shaped US military institutions across the twentieth century. After 1898, the Philippines quickly became America’s most substantial colonial commitment, and with over one hundred million people, it remains one of the United States’ largest and most reliable allies. America had—and has—other territories, bases, and modes to project its global power. But after 1898 the Philippines demanded the most energy and the most money, posed the biggest questions, and set the precedents for later US actions in Asia. That relationship hardly changed after independence in 1946—if anything, it widened and deepened. As America’s Asian priorities shifted, it was from the Philippines that the United States faced its Pacific rivals: Spain, Japan, the Soviet Union, and, today, China.


From the Pacific, you can watch the transformation of the American military in the twentieth century. A standing army replaced a small frontier fighting force, and a flexible National Guard took the place of an array of inept local militias. Steel ships plied the seas, refueling at coaling stations that dotted the maps at war colleges and service academies. The livelihoods of entire cities were tied to military fortunes, whether workers built B-17s at Boeing in Seattle, harvested sugar cane in Hawai‘i, or packed salmon into tin cans in Alaska. There were new weapons, from nuclear warheads stored at Clark to psychological operations aimed at the hearts and minds of Southeast Asian peasants. And there were new or expanded institutions—veterans’ hospitals, pension bureaus, and embassy naturalization offices—that managed the dense connections between military service, the modern welfare state, and its citizens. There were long legacies and surprising links. If you look for the only US Veterans Administration office outside the United States, you’ll find it in Manila.


As the American military changed in the twentieth century, the Philippines was both its foundation and its framework. A foundation in the sense of a solid block on which everything else was built: a jungle outpost became an Army camp, which then became an Air Force base four times the size of the District of Columbia. An army borrowed from the Spanish in 1898 was sent to Japan in 1945 and replicated in Korea in 1950. Careers advanced in the Philippines—William Howard Taft and Dwight Eisenhower, Paul Wolfowitz and Paul Manafort—led to Washington’s corridors of power. The Philippines provided a framework that guided and set boundaries for the United States in Asia: anticommunism in the mountains of Luzon could be exported to South Vietnam; People Power generated peaceful regime change in Manila in 1986, so why would it not do so in Baghdad in 2003? Filipinos were part of every major policy the US military undertook, fighting with and for the nation that colonized them, and with dreams greater than food or pay or travel. They learned along the way to navigate the Pacific Century, building on its foundation, pushing against its framework, and making the century their own.


Not so different from a Manila jeepney driver. The Manila American Cemetery is a long walk from the nearest train station, and so to get there I rode in a jeepney. The streets and highways of Manila are clogged with these remarkable vehicles, and everyone will tell you the same story of where they come from: after the Second World War, the US Army sold or abandoned its fleet of jeeps, and Filipino drivers adapted them for use as informal jitneys, or jeepneys. Some drivers boast that the jeepneys they drive date from World War II, though none actually do anymore. The American Motor Car Company exported jeeps from Detroit until the 1970s, and most today are manufactured in the Philippines. To grab potential passengers’ attention, drivers paint jeepneys in outlandish colors, decorating them with the names of their wives, their children, their hometowns, their patron saints. In the decades since the war, the jeepney has become for Filipinos a cherished national icon, which, when you think about it, is kind of ironic. On the one hand, there is no clearer illustration of the legacies of war and colonialism: a US Army vehicle, imported during an invasion, abandoned by the occupiers, and yet somehow still beloved. But a jeepney would be unrecognizable on American streets: it is a distinctively Filipino vehicle, built on an American platform but adapted to Filipinos’ needs. In all my trips to the Philippines, I saw jeepneys in almost every color. I never saw one painted red, white, and blue.6


IN THE DARKEST DAYS OF THE SECOND WORLD WAR, TWO MEN briefly debated the stakes of the war that had brought them together. Captain William Peryam had been an engineer at a copper mine before he headed to the hills to join a guerrilla unit in northern Luzon. In a memoir written just after the war, Major Thomas Jones, one of Peryam’s fellow soldiers, recorded an insight on the captain’s part. “I’ve been in this country five years before the war,” he said, “and never regarded these Filipinos as anything other than a source of labor supply to be exploited as much as possible. And now, damn it,… the very people for whom I had nothing but a kick in the seat of the pants are now risking their lives to feed me and the rest of the Americans.” Peryam insisted that “if I ever get through this war things are going to be different” at the mine.7


In his memoir, Major Jones then recorded another story. As the guerrillas struggled to survive in the mountains, local Filipinos offered them food and water. Then, one day, the guerrillas got the one thing they needed even more urgently: a radio man. In the 1930s, Arthur Furagganan had spent seven years in Los Angeles and picked up a trade as a radio repairman. He returned home to the Philippines just before the war, and soon after the Japanese invasion in 1942, he made his way to the mountains. When the American guerrillas asked Furagganan whether he planned to return to California after the war, he said no. “I think it’s the most wonderful place in the world to live—for a white person—and the worst for a Filipino.” The Americans tried to convince their beloved radio operator that “after the gallant fight in Bataan, the burden of which had been carried by Filipino troops, that things would be different in America.” Furagganan was unconvinced. “Maybe just now. But you can’t eliminate prejudice merely by a battle, even Bataan.”8


The two men never lived to see the world their war was changing. William Peryam died when the Allies sunk a Japanese ship carrying him and other POWs to Japan in December 1944. Arthur Furagganan was captured by the Japanese and executed. Their service is inscribed in stone: Peryam’s at a memorial in Honolulu, and Furagganan’s at the Manila American Cemetery, one of the 36,285 names whose stories remain to be told. For the lives bound up in the Pacific Century, that shared history could end in the green fields of the Manila American Cemetery or on a park bench in downtown Los Angeles. But it began in 1899, when two men—one Filipino, one American—made camp near a town called Macabebe.















CHAPTER ONE



BIND YOUR SONS


1898–1901


IN JUNE 1899, LIEUTENANT MATTHEW BATSON AND HIS SERVANT, a man known to us only by his first name, Jacinto, made camp in the Candaba swamps about fifty miles north of Manila. Surrounded by the poorly armed but devoted soldiers of the Philippines’ decades-long independence movement, the two men surely knew that America’s “splendid little war” to liberate Spain’s Caribbean colonies had become something else: a bitter confrontation in Asia, marked by guerrilla warfare, racial violence, and harsh counterinsurgency. When Matthew Batson enlisted as a private in the US Army in 1888, he surely hadn’t expected to find himself one day in the Philippines. He almost didn’t become a soldier at all. Raised in rural Missouri, Batson tried his hand at teaching and studied briefly for the bar before giving army life a chance. The next ten years brought Batson to the American West and then to Cuba, mostly with the 9th US Cavalry, a regiment of African American soldiers known as the “Buffalo Soldiers.”1


Batson was a decorated soldier with an independent streak. His actions in one of the Philippine-American War’s first battles earned him the Medal of Honor. But by June 1899, the thirty-three-year-old soldier had grown downright frustrated with the heavy-handed conduct of the war he had been sent across the Pacific to fight. Batson was unsurprised by the so-called Philippine Insurrection, reflecting in a letter to his wife that “if I was a Philipino [sic] I would fight as long as I had a breath left.… We come as a Christian people to relieve them from the Spanish yoke and bear ourselves like barbarians.” Batson unburdened his thoughts not only to his wife, but to his servant as well, and at some point in May or June of 1899, Jacinto brought Batson to Macabebe, his hometown in the province of Pampanga not far from their camp.2


What Matthew Batson found there surprised him. Macabebe’s loyalty to Spain meant it was no ordinary city. For years, it had been the largest source of military recruitment for Spain’s colonial army in the Philippines. Eugenio Blanco, a colonel in that army and the city’s most powerful landowner, funneled local men into the Voluntarios de Macabebe. Happy to have the troops, the Spanish protected Blanco in turn after Filipino revolutionaries launched a war of resistance against Spain. In 1898, revolutionaries surrounded the Spanish garrison in Macabebe. Five hundred Spanish soldiers, civilians, and clergy took refuge in the parish church, and 3,000 Macabebe soldiers defended them until the Spanish army rescued the town.3


When American troops conquered Macabebe a few months later, in April 1899, they encountered “about a thousand of the inhabitants of the place assembled upon the banks of the river, cheering the expedition lustily,” and learned that “many of the Macabebes expressed themselves as being anxious to enter the American service.” A delegation from the city traveled to Manila to meet with US officers, eager to transfer their allegiance from Spain to the United States in exchange for protection from revolutionary forces. The Army recruited a hundred men as civilian employees.4


Soon thereafter, the Chicago Tribune informed readers that the Filipinos “are delighted to get 50 cents a day, declaring their loyalty to the Americans.” Jacinto was probably one of them, in all likelihood having previously served in the Spanish Voluntarios. Precisely what Jacinto showed Matthew Batson in Macabebe is unknown, but in June 1899, Batson wrote a letter to his commanding officer asking permission to organize two companies of Filipinos as soldiers—not simply as hired hands—for use in local pacification campaigns. Major General Elwell Otis, who was then the commanding general in the Philippines, hesitantly agreed. And with that began the Philippine Scouts: a colonial army that matched those of America’s fellow empires, and, over time, the foundation of US power in Asia and a symbol of the partnership between the two nations.5


The Philippine Scouts emerged from conversations between Matthew Batson and Jacinto, carried on at times in a pidgin language that American soldiers called “bamboo English,” other times conducted through their translator, a former captain in Spain’s colonial army. But it wasn’t an original idea. The military histories of both the United States and the Philippines made a “native” force a foregone conclusion. Matthew Batson’s life story suggests the American precedents: his time with the Buffalo Soldiers ingrained a racial hierarchy, and years of low-intensity warfare in the American West made him familiar with the Indian Scouts, units of Native American soldiers recruited by the US Army in the late nineteenth century.6


Jacinto’s experiences pointed toward the same outcome. For centuries, the Spanish had depended on Filipino troops to defend their Asian colony. The Philippine Revolution, well under way before the Americans arrived in Manila Bay in 1898, exacerbated divisions within Philippine society, forcing people like Jacinto to choose sides. For the Americans, to win the war—or even just make the war look winnable—they needed Filipino allies. In places like Macabebe, they found trained soldiers willing to take their side. Years of war had devastated large areas of the Philippines. The landless and hungry population was so tired of surviving off boiled banana stumps—as the people living around Macabebe were doing—they were willing to offer their services to any army in exchange for security. For the men of Macabebe, if food and safety required Filipino soldiers to let Batson and the Americans think the force was their idea, so be it.7


As they fought side by side, Filipinos and Americans spoke in a language of blood to make sense of their new bonds. The Macabebes’ enemies called them dugong aso, or “dog-blooded”—a contemptuous term still used today—that suggested an animal’s obedience rather than loyalty, brotherhood, or even self-interest. The revolutionaries called the Macabebes’ service treason, but underneath the apparent contradiction of Filipinos fighting for the Americans against other Filipinos was a deeper truth. As Filipino soldiers served American interests in the Pacific, they also advanced their own nation, although not on their own terms. Instead, the war entangled two countries by linking Philippine national identity with US military priorities in the Pacific. Beginning with that conversation between Matthew Batson and Jacinto, the two nations were irrevocably bound together. This was the first time that Americans found themselves in Southeast Asian jungles with Filipino soldiers by their side. It would not be the last.8


IN THE NINETEENTH CENTURY, SPAIN MAINTAINED ONLY A SMALL cohort of civilian and military officials in the Philippines. Mostly, they relied on local landlords and clergy to maintain order and filled their army’s ranks with Filipino soldiers, called by the Spanish indios, or Indians. Resistance to Spanish colonialism steadily increased, leaving Spain’s small military outpost vulnerable. In 1868, the government in Madrid moved to supplement the army with a quasi-military police force, the Guardia Civil, made up of Filipino soldiers under Spanish officers. Marching through Manila in their distinctive three-cornered hats, the Guardia Civil’s 3,500 soldiers suppressed Filipino nationalists, which in turn only fanned the flames of anti-Spanish rebellion.9


The Philippine Revolution began with a dispute about soldiers’ pay. In 1872, the colonial government announced that it would replace some of the Filipino civil guards at Fort San Felipe in Cavite, a small city across Manila Bay from the capital, with a contingent of Spaniards. The Spanish soldiers would do the same service but receive European wages. Outraged, a group of 200 Filipinos, most of them soldiers in the Guardia Civil, walked out on January 20, 1872. Spain called it a mutiny, quickly crushed it, and executed three men before an angry crowd of 40,000 in Manila, setting the Philippines on an irrevocable course toward conflict with Spain.10


A generation later, formal petitions and sporadic rebellions had become armed insurgency. The revolution had many leaders, but after 1897 it was under the political and military command of General Emilio Aguinaldo. Born to a prosperous family in 1869 in Cavite Viejo, near the site of the 1872 munity, Aguinaldo was recruited by a cousin into the revolution’s armed faction in 1895, and soon rose to military leadership, outmaneuvering his rivals and successfully turning a ragtag series of colonial uprisings into a revolution to be reckoned with. Calling on “the brave sons of the Philippines,” Aguinaldo tried (with some success) to draw trained soldiers—and their weapons—from the indios of the Spanish colonial army into the ranks of the Katipuneros, or revolutionaries. At the same time, the movement’s official propagandists documented the excesses of Spain’s army and sought to win converts to the Katipunan by providing security, food, and animals to ordinary people.11


With their empire collapsing all around them, from Havana to Guam to Manila, the Spanish launched a last-ditch effort to suppress the revolution by force. They expanded the Guardia Civil and in 1895 set up a new branch, the Cuerpo de Vigilancia y Seguridad, a secret police service that recruited both Spanish and Filipino agents. The Spanish reinforced Filipino troops with about 22,000 peninsulares—soldiers from the Iberian Peninsula—who landed in waves over the course of October 1896 to the cheers of Manila’s Spanish settlers. By January 1897, the Spanish had 36,000 soldiers under arms: most were peninsulares, along with a few thousand recruited from elsewhere in Europe. About 6,000 were Filipino soldiers, whom the Spanish transferred from Manila to guard other, less rebellious regions. To Aguinaldo’s delight, many deserted along the way: as the revolution expanded, the Spanish Army now confronted a new force of Filipino soldiers that they themselves had trained—wielding skills and weapons they had obtained in Spanish service.12


The Spanish were hardly unique in using colonial subjects to police the outposts of Asian empire: the British, French, and Dutch already did the same. After 1898, Americans would look to them for guidance but drew most of their lessons from their own experiences. In the nineteenth-century American West, the US Army regularly turned to cooperative Native American soldiers, first recruited into service in an official capacity in August 1866, and only phased out as a policy in 1897. Most performed manual labor, but some acted as informants, interpreters, or as scouts—a word that Matthew Batson would have known well when he proposed the formation of the Philippine Scouts. The term would have been equally familiar to US Army generals, twenty-six out of thirty of whom had seen service in the so-called Indian Wars of the previous generation.13


This was not the first time the US Army had tried to find Filipinos to fight for them. In the first days of the war against Spain, they hoped to delegate the war to the Filipinos—by arming General Emilio Aguinaldo—only to see it backfire. In the spring of 1898, Aguinaldo was almost completely unknown to US officials, but he seemed like a natural ally. For years, the United States had watched as Cubans challenged Spanish rule over their homeland. Some Americans wanted to help Cuban revolutionaries and civilians imprisoned in reconcentrado camps; some eyed economic opportunity in the Caribbean; a few dreamed of an empire to rival the European powers. They paid little attention to political unrest also occurring in the Philippines. War with Spain followed just weeks after the February 1898 explosion of the USS Maine in Havana, but a conflict over Cuba then summoned the question of Spain’s Pacific empire: the fortified island of Guam and the massive archipelago of the Philippines, then lightly defended by peninsulares and a sizeable naval force sailing outdated vessels. For America, this was a war of choice, with unexpected and enduring consequences. The United States didn’t have to expand the war to the Pacific, and military and political leaders at the time didn’t necessarily think they were beginning a century of US power in Asia. Stopping the Spanish Navy was tactically wise, and recruiting Emilio Aguinaldo—who knew the terrain, had troops on the ground, and held the imaginations of thousands of Filipinos—made short-term sense as well.


But when the United States declared war on Spain, Emilio Aguinaldo was not even in the Philippines. A few months before, on December 14, 1897, the revolutionary general had hammered out a truce with the Spanish at the city of Biaknabato. Aguinaldo wanted to buy time for the revolutionary troops under his command to plant and raise another season of crops, to obtain more weapons, and to continue draining the Spanish will to fight. As Spain’s army lost men to malaria, dysentery, and desertion, and with Cuba in revolt as well, officials in Madrid informed General Camilo Polavieja that no more peninsulares could be spared for the Pacific. Polavieja seized Aguinaldo’s proposed truce and sweetened it with 400,000 pesos on the condition that the general leave the Philippines. Aguinaldo agreed (although he never got all the money) and settled in the nearby British colony of Hong Kong, where expatriate Filipino politicians, intellectuals, and military strategists continued plotting revolution under the command of their twenty-eight-year-old general.14


Aguinaldo planned a trip to Europe to plead the revolution’s cause and meet with like-minded Cuban exiles. He was already on his way on April 21, 1898, the day the United States declared war. As American consular officials scrambled to track down a potential ally in their new war against Spain, E. Spencer Pratt, the US consul general at Singapore, found Aguinaldo first. The two met on Sunday morning, April 24, for about an hour. Pratt suggested that Aguinaldo return to Hong Kong, and then, should the US Navy be ordered to attack the Spanish fleet in the Philippines, Aguinaldo would accompany Commodore George Dewey, the commander of the Navy’s Asiatic Squadron. When Platt cabled Dewey about the plan, the sixty-one-year-old naval officer was enthusiastic: “Tell Aguinaldo come soon as possible.” Aguinaldo hurried to Hong Kong, spent some of his Spanish money to buy arms, and contacted revolutionary leaders in the Philippines. He urged them to support an American invasion. “There where you see the American flag flying, assemble in numbers; they are our redeemers!” US naval officers were pleased, but the State Department back in Washington was not, warning Pratt not to let Aguinaldo “form hopes which it might not be practicable to justify.”15


Dewey left Hong Kong without Aguinaldo. Secretary of the Navy John D. Long hesitated to expand the war to the Pacific, but his assistant secretary, the young Theodore Roosevelt, had no such qualms. During a brief stint as Acting Secretary of the Navy in the crucial moments of April 1898, Roosevelt ignored his boss and ordered US ships to Manila. Dewey’s sailors “proceeded to daub a new coat of dark, dirty, drab paint over the snow-white that had covered our ships for thirty years,” and sailed as warships for the Philippines, where the US Asiatic Squadron dispatched the Spanish fleet in just six hours on the morning of May 1, 1898. Dewey then found himself stuck. He couldn’t leave Manila Bay: if he entered a neutral port, international law required that his ships and crews be interned. Nor could he stay: there were no American soldiers nearby to support a land invasion, and a halfhearted attempt would surely trigger a diplomatic crisis. International law obliged any occupying power to protect the lives and property of all Manila’s residents, including British and German business owners, so if violence ensued, other imperial powers might enter the fray. If that happened, Dewey would have to hand the Philippines over to Britain or Germany—or go with to war with their far bigger navies, which would surely lead to the same outcome.16


Emilio Aguinaldo was Dewey’s solution. His supporters could fight the Spanish without provoking an international controversy. The Filipino general boarded the USS McCulloch, which escorted him to Manila Bay on May 19, 1898. The two men met the next day in Dewey’s quarters on board the USS Olympia, the Navy’s Asiatic flagship. Dewey was flush with victory and eager to take advantage of Aguinaldo’s forces until Uncle Sam’s soldiers arrived. Aguinaldo was equally keen to use the Americans for his own purposes. The two men—who spoke through a translator—clearly misunderstood each other. What they actually said we’ll never know, as nothing was written down that day. Both men published memoirs, but only later, after war had broken out, and the two accounts are impossible to reconcile. Aguinaldo insisted that Dewey had promised the Philippines its independence. He wrote that Dewey told him “America… needs no colonies, assuring me finally that there was no occasion for me to entertain any doubts whatever about the recognition of the Independence of the Philippines by the United States.” Dewey denied there had been commitments of any kind, later calling Aguinaldo’s statement “a tissue of falsehoods.” But as they shook hands that afternoon, they believed they were in agreement.17


When Emilio Aguinaldo went ashore at Cavite on May 19, 1898, he found his hometown in ruins after two years of revolutionary struggle against Spain. The young general returned, emboldened. On May 24, just as thousands of US troops were boarding Army transport ships in San Francisco bound for Manila, Aguinaldo claimed authority to govern as dictator of the provisional government of the Philippine Republic. He sent word of the new republic to George Dewey, who—since he couldn’t read Spanish—simply forwarded the unread document to the Navy Department in Washington.18


Within weeks, revolutionaries had formalized the Army of the Liberation of the Philippines. Men enlisted for a variety of reasons: nationalist fervor, protection from the Spanish, pressure from the revolutionaries, money. Many were recruited through social networks. When Adriano Rios joined the revolutionary forces as a sergeant, his first order was to enlist fellow townsmen. Aguinaldo’s army functioned with all the trappings of a national force, including ranks, commissions, military justice, and paperwork. The provisional government’s coffers were barely sufficient to make payroll, so most soldiers equipped themselves. The insurgents’ rifles were good (better, at times, than those later issued to American soldiers) but in short supply. For the revolution’s rank and file, military service was a sign of political commitment and a down payment on citizenship in a future Philippine republic. After May 1898, the revolutionary army promised care for wounded soldiers, benefits for veterans, and support for widows.19


Dewey, still hamstrung by the laws of war, quietly turned over weapons the Americans had captured from the Spanish to the Filipino army. After consolidating power in Cavite province, Aguinaldo’s army marched toward Manila. For the moment, Dewey was thrilled. “The Filipinos were our friends, assisting us; they were doing our work.” But he grew increasingly concerned, soon warning the Navy Department that Aguinaldo and his men had become “aggressive and even threatening.” Bound together by their opposition to Spain, the two nations soon saw their interests diverge. Secretary of the Navy John Long forbade George Dewey from any communication that might recognize Aguinaldo as the head of a legitimate political entity.20


In June 1898, revolutionaries gathered in Cavite. They were worried the Americans might seize the Philippines, but they also wanted to prepare for the possibility that the Americans would withdraw and hand the islands back to the Spanish—or that both countries would withdraw and another imperial power would arrive. On June 12, 1898, they issued a declaration of independence. “Weary of bearing the ominous yoke of Spanish dominion,” the new republic declared itself “released from all obedience to the crown of Spain” and called for a “dignified place in the concert of free nations.” Aboard the Olympia just offshore, George Dewey had been invited by Aguinaldo to attend the festivities. Dewey declined, on the grounds that June 12, a Sunday, was his “mail day.”21


On August 13, 1898, the official US invasion began. The battle—which one American soldier described in his diary as “a very tame affair”—followed a plan carefully prearranged by US and Spanish diplomats. The Olympia opened fire at 9:30 a.m., then sent a signal at 11:00 a.m. calling on the Spanish to surrender, which they promptly did. The staged conflict allowed the 13,000 Spanish soldiers in Manila to protect their political, imperial, and racial prerogatives by surrendering not to their rebellious imperial subjects but to the Americans. The deal also gave the Americans, rather than the revolutionaries, control of the colonial capital. An additional irony became apparent a day later, when news reached Manila that the August 13 battle had been altogether unnecessary: on August 12, the Americans and Spanish had agreed to end the war, but news of the armistice did not reach Manila because Dewey had cut the only cable line between Manila and Hong Kong.22


About 11,000 American troops entered and occupied the Philippines, nearly all of them quartered in Manila or the nearby naval station at Cavite. They were no longer looking for allies. “There must be no joint occupation with the insurgents,” ordered the War Department. “The insurgents and all others must recognize the military occupation and authority of the United States.” George Dewey and the Navy faded from the picture, handing over the work of the occupation to Major General Wesley Merritt of the Army. Merritt readied to enter Manila as a conqueror, but he knew almost nothing about the Philippines. He arrived with a briefing book that included—among other items marked “confidential”—several transcribed pages of the Encyclopaedia Britannica. Merritt named one of his assistants, Arthur MacArthur, a fifty-three-year-old Civil War veteran, as the provost marshal general and civil governor of Manila. While his son Douglas stayed home in Milwaukee to study for the West Point entrance exams, Arthur MacArthur shipped out for the Philippines. He quickly imposed martial law, much to the dismay of city residents.23


Crossing the Pacific with Merritt and MacArthur were enlisted men who had volunteered in the war fever that gripped the United States in the spring of 1898. When Filipino nationalist Isabelo de los Reyes disparaged “Yankee soldiers” as “simple adventurers recruited on the waterfronts of San Francisco and neighboring ports,” he was on to something. Zeno Lucas signed up on May 3, 1898, while watching a parade in Portland, Oregon. H. C. Thompson rushed to the colors in Eugene after the sinking of the USS Maine and shipped out from San Francisco on May 25. For such men, who averaged twenty-five years of age, five feet eight inches in height, and 150 pounds, the Pacific undertaking was something between a boyhood adventure and a noble mission. Writing from Portland just days before embarking with the US volunteers, Joseph Evans assured his brother that “this trip is nothing but a vacation—we will have lots of fun.” Oregon soldier Edward Kelly linked America’s new Pacific venture to earlier westward expansion: “We are facing the same conditions over there that we faced on our own frontiers for so long,” he wrote. Myths aside, many of Kelly’s fellow Oregon soldiers had never been on a horse. Some had never seen the ocean.24


On December 21, 1898, as the Oregon rank and file settled in to Manila life, President William McKinley confirmed Filipinos’ worst fears by declaring America’s intention to annex the whole of the Philippines. The revolutionaries had been steadily establishing provisional governments in the provinces they controlled, enforcing laws, collecting taxes, and recruiting soldiers, and US troops could be found nowhere other than Manila. So McKinley’s move was meant to counter the revolutionaries’ obvious political power and mask America’s weakness. “We come, not as invaders or conquerors, but as friends,” the president announced in a declaration posted in the cities and towns US forces occupied. Filipinos could look forward to America’s “support and protection.… The mission of the United States is one of benevolent assimilation, substituting the mild sway of justice and right for arbitrary rule.” McKinley also issued a veiled threat. “In the fulfillment of this high mission… there must be sedulously maintained the strong arm of authority.” Uncertainty evaporated: the Americans were here to stay.25


News of annexation, as Aguinaldo later recalled, “struck like a lightning bolt into the camp of the revolution.” Apolinario Mabini, Aguinaldo’s chief political partner, warned Filipinos that colonization “will unite us forever with a nation… which hates the colored race with a mortal hatred.” McKinley’s proclamation was publicly defaced, and Aguinaldo threatened a death sentence to Filipinos caught reading it. A month later, on January 21, 1899, the revolutionary government gathered at the city of Malolos, just north of Manila, and adopted a constitution for the Philippine Republic. But the time for politics was quickly passing; now there was talk of little other than war. The revolutionary cabinet split over whether to take up arms against the Americans, but in the meantime, General Aguinaldo collected weapons, trained his troops, and required them to swear to “recognize no authority but that of God and the Revolutionary Government.”26


In early 1899, Americans and Filipinos both struggled to mobilize armies in the Philippines that would demonstrate their political legitimacy. The United States aimed at imperial acquisition through military occupation, whereas the Philippine Republic pursued national consolidation through revolutionary struggle. References to “the mild sway of justice” could not obscure American violence, nor could revolutionary appeals to the unity of “all the Filipinos” hide divisions within Philippine society. Bound by their competing national ambitions, war was the only common language the two nations could speak. Aguinaldo—America’s first Filipino soldier—had been an expedient ally in the war with Spain in April 1898, neither the first nor the last time America armed and trained a useful rebel who turned on them. Very soon, he would become a formidable enemy.


AT EIGHT P.M. ON SATURDAY NIGHT, FEBRUARY 4, 1899, AT THE San Juan Bridge just outside Manila, a group of Filipino soldiers confronted an American patrol. Private Robert Grayson of the First Nebraska Volunteers fired the first shot, and by dawn, there was no turning back. “I have tried to avoid… armed conflict,” Aguinaldo announced in a public appeal. “But all my attempts have been useless against the measureless pride of the American Government… who have treated me as a rebel because I defend the sacred interest of my country.”27


“Insurgents have inaugurated general engagement yesterday night,” read the first cable to reach President McKinley. Word of hostilities stiffened the nerve of his political opponents, who were then mobilizing to stop the US Senate from ratifying the Treaty of Paris that would formally annex Spain’s colonial possessions in Puerto Rico, Guam, and the Philippines. Critics argued that recent American efforts at “scurrying around the universe looking for some vague new duty” departed from the nation’s republican traditions, whereas others feared a new colony would dilute the American polity with brown-skinned heathens. Some merely worried that imperialism would be expensive or might provoke war with Britain or Germany. On February 6, 1899, one day after most Americans learned of violence in Manila, the vote came. At 3:25 in the afternoon, amid a “pitiless snowstorm,” the Senate ratified the treaty with a single vote to spare. Republican senator Henry Cabot Lodge wrote his friend Theodore Roosevelt that “it was the closest, hardest fight I have ever known.”28


With the peace treaty signed, Spanish soldiers departed the Philippines—bringing some of their loyal Macabebe soldiers with them. The war against the Filipinos entered a new phase. The Americans launched a massive counterattack, inflicting 3,000 casualties in the days after the incident at San Juan Bridge. Revolutionary forces wielded substantial power. Their mix of volunteers, irregulars, and veterans of the Spanish army numbered perhaps 25,000 soldiers. The Americans had about 21,000 soldiers in the Philippines in February 1899, nearly all of them quartered in and around Manila. Many were volunteers, like the Oregon men, who had answered the call in the first days of the Spanish-American War, and their terms of service were about to expire. Congress expanded the troop strength, and the Army began pouring soldiers into the Philippines. By late summer 1899, in-country Army strength had risen to about 50,000, and it would peak that December at 71,528. White House officials believed that they had a winning strategy: overwhelming force, decisive victory, and a rapid handover of power to civil authorities, allowing the victorious troops to return home in time for next year’s election. The Americans had good reason to believe that victory was simply a matter of time. The Filipinos needed only to cooperate by losing.29


American military officers called for even more men, but in Washington, concerns about the buildup quickly emerged. Among other things, American soldiers were expensive. The initial volunteers, quickly shipped across the Pacific in 1898, arrived wearing blue flannel, ready to eat hard tack, canned Australian beef, and dried prunes. But after the excitement wore off, morale for faraway troops required the comforts of home, few of which could be found in Manila. Fresh from the cool climate of Oregon, H. C. Thompson recalled that his fellow soldiers “would crop our shocks of hair with clippers,” and the tropics likewise dictated a switch from wool to khaki, although as often as not American soldiers wore no shirts at all, leading one of the Army’s more uptight generals to complain that “we are the most slouchy soldiers in the world.” As soon as the War Department could manage, it shipped familiar American foodstuffs to the enlisted men, and selections of champagne, mineral water, and silverware for the officers.30


In the war’s first days, US soldiers did not yet serve with Filipinos in uniform, but they relied on Filipinos as military laborers, hiring them to pack mules, do laundry, and serve as cargadores, or carriers. Employment—or outright coercion—began during the invasion. Sergeant Charles Maccubbin and his men were charged with landing a cannon and caisson during a siege. “Jim Clark of ‘C’ Company saw a bunch of Chinamen hiding alongside the road,” Maccubbin later recalled. “He ran them out onto the street and made them take hold of the ropes, and did holler and kick. But we jabbed them with our rifles and finally I brought the gun through to a plaza.” Reaching shore in Cavite just after his arrival in the Philippines, Oregon soldier Zeno Lucas headed straight for the “fruit stands in front of the barracks,” where ethnic Chinese traders had been selling their wares at Sangley Point (or “Chinese Point”) ever since Cavite’s establishment as a Spanish naval station. “It is hard to trade with them,” Lucas noted in his diary, “as they do not know the value of American money.” Perhaps, but Lucas’s grasp on the principles of private property was weak, too. “I borrowed a can of condensed milk from one of the natives and,” he joked, “forgot to return it.”31


American soldiers appreciated the chance to outsource burdensome tasks of military service. Assigned to fatigue duty, Zeno Lucas noted in his diary that he “carried a few boxes and sat down and let the natives do the rest. It is to [sic] warm here to work hard.” His fellow Oregon soldier George Telfer thought that “in a country where Chinamen abound and where they carry everything—and where wages are low—it seems absurd to punish soldiers by making them beasts of burden.” Officers, meanwhile, grumbled their way through a military version of what Americans at home described as the “servant problem.” In 1898, Colonel F. F. Hilder told readers of National Geographic Magazine that Filipinos “are intermittent rather than steady workers.” In letters home to his family, Ohio sailor John Willis Greenslade initially approved of his “Filipino boy called Mateo,” who “is clean and nice looking,” but after Mateo quit, Greenslade complained that his new servant “resembles a block of wood more than anything else I know of.” For both Filipinos and Americans, these were transactional relationships that evaded thorny questions of military occupation and national betrayal, but they reflected American dependence on cooperative local workers and Filipino willingness to engage with the United States.32


As US forces refreshed and rearmed, the war moved into a second, more brutal phase. On November 13, 1899, convinced that head-to-head battle with American forces would only yield defeat, Aguinaldo and his military advisers shifted to a strategy of guerrilla warfare. Rather than massing their troops, they dispersed them to their home provinces. Ambush and close combat replaced the revolutionaries’ suicidal full-frontal attacks on American forces. Aguinaldo’s adviser Apolinario Mabini explained the shift in a letter to his enemy, Brigadier General J. Franklin Bell. Mabini “deplore[d] with all my soul the guerrilla and ambush system to which the Filipinos see themselves reduced,” but hoped “the struggle will remind the Americans of the one their ancestors sustained against the English.” To a Filipino audience, Mabini asserted that “to struggle is the only recourse open to us in order to save the national honor and arrive at a true peace.” Aguinaldo went into hiding. Most of his officers had no information about his whereabouts, and thus no way to betray him to the Americans if captured.33


The war had turned ugly. News reports of the Filipinos’ guerrilla tactics told Americans that “every Filipino was our enemy, and each bare-footed chewer of the betel nut mixture a spy.” Even dogs “seemed to be trained to bark peculiarly at an American.” Week after week, the Army and Navy Journal shared with its readers lurid accounts asserting that revolutionary soldiers, “true to their Malay instincts,” had stabbed men in the back, buried women alive, or forced new recruits to drink the blood of dead American soldiers. As American soldiers encountered unfamiliar and hostile people, they projected their ignorance or their own racial prejudices onto the Filipinos. One commander read Rudyard Kipling’s poem “The White Man’s Burden” to his soldiers, who responded with “vociferous enthusiasm.”34


“Almost without exception,” wrote one army officer, “soldiers and also many officers refer to the natives in their presence as ‘niggers,’” and, he observed, “natives are beginning to understand what the word ‘nigger’ means.” African American soldiers, about 5,000 of whom served in the Philippines with the 9th and 10th Cavalry and 24th and 25th Infantry, encountered revolutionary propaganda that pointed out the ironies of their service. Michael Robinson Jr., an enlisted man in the 25th Infantry, recalled “placards… left mysteriously in houses we have occupied,” telling “the colored soldier that while he is contending on the field of battle against people who are struggling for recognition and freedom, your people in America are being lynched and disfranchised.” One black soldier wrote home that he “felt sorry” for Filipinos who confronted the racialized hatred of the American army. Another said of the US war in the Philippines that “expansion is too clean a name for it.”35


In the United States, uncoordinated criticisms had by 1899 coalesced into an anti-imperialist movement, a diverse coalition that included Republican isolationists and Democratic obstructionists, starched-collar religious pacifists and blue-collar workers, bleeding-heart northerners and full-throated racist Southerners, self-proclaimed “Friends of the Indian” and die-hard enemies of William McKinley. Only a few had opposed the declaration of war with Spain in the spring of 1898, and in fact many, urging humanitarian intervention to aid the Cubans, had actually voted for it. Occupation and annexation prompted the war’s critics to form the Anti-Imperialist League in Boston in June 1898. William James, Jane Addams, and Mark Twain wrote on the League’s behalf, while Andrew Carnegie bankrolled its undertakings. William Jennings Bryan hoped to lead it. The Nebraska populist’s 1896 run for the White House had electrified much of country, and in the midst of war in 1899, anti-imperialists began to rally around Bryan’s almost-certain nomination for the Democratic Party’s next presidential ticket.


President McKinley tried to neutralize the anti-imperialists by hurrying the transition from military rule to civil government. The president had already sent a group of advisers to plan for civilian rule, “with the retention of a strong military arm” that would “reconcile the Filipinos to American sovereignty.” The Philippine Commission, though, was a total failure: commissioners arrived in Manila on March 4, 1899, only to learn that war had broken out during their Pacific voyage. Military and naval officers, preoccupied with war and hostile to nosy political observers, undermined the commission’s power or simply ignored it. George Dewey, who rarely entered Manila, kept his office onboard the Olympia, never attended a commission meeting, and then abruptly pulled anchor and sailed for the United States in May 1899.36


McKinley delegated the work of pacification to his new Secretary of War, Elihu Root, a well-connected New York corporation lawyer with no military background. President McKinley, stung by the failure of the first Philippine Commission, concerned about the outbreak of guerrilla warfare, and attentive to his impending reelection campaign, appointed a second Philippine Commission in January 1900. This commission would not merely study civil government, but implement it. McKinley summoned federal judge William Howard Taft from Cincinnati. Taft, forty-two years old, deeply ambitious, and a formidable player in Ohio’s high-stakes Republican politics, thought he was coming to Washington to learn of his nomination to the US Supreme Court. McKinley had something else in mind: the first governorship of the Philippines. The smooth-talking McKinley swayed Taft by hinting that whoever brought the blessings of American law to the Philippines was sure to find a seat on the nation’s highest court. Taft packed his bags and soon after arriving in Manila on June 3, 1900, wrote his brother, hopeful “that civil government shall be established.… The Filipinos are anxious to be rid of policing by shoulder straps.”37


Taft doubted that Filipinos would be subdued by the stripes and stars on officers’ shoulders. The Army, however, took them very seriously. They put their faith in their leader, Major General Arthur MacArthur, who had become military governor of the Philippines in May 1900. Frustrated by the Filipinos’ guerrilla tactics and hesitant to bind the Army’s hands by the terms of law, MacArthur and his advisers believed McKinley was endangering soldiers’ lives by hastily imposing civilian rule merely to court votes in America’s fall election, and military men did not trust the glad-handing, obese Ohio lawyer the president had sent out to the islands. MacArthur and Taft began their work in Manila cordially; within weeks, they had become bitter enemies.38


In the field, General MacArthur began a new campaign on June 21, 1900, first issuing an amnesty policy that offered “complete immunity” and thirty pesos for every rifle to any revolutionary who swore an oath of allegiance “accepting the sovereignty of the United States.” Back in Washington, news of MacArthur’s amnesty proclamation showed administration supporters light at the end of the tunnel. “The thing is entirely over,” one general prematurely reported. About 5,000 Filipinos took the oath, but most of them were civilians or military prisoners. Cash rewards yielded just 140 rifles. MacArthur quietly allowed the policy to expire ninety days later, but in a publicity move, Aguinaldo soon issued his own amnesty proclamation for American soldiers, upping the ante to eighty pesos for a rifle, and authorizing his top military strategist General Artemio Ricarte to free any prisoner “who should promise on his word of honor not to take up arms again against us.”39


Anti-imperialists believed a November election victory was essential, lest McKinley’s reelection give Republican imperialists a mandate. The Democrats’ platform called “the burning issue of imperialism… the paramount issue of the campaign,” but it wasn’t. Anti-imperialists were crestfallen when William Jennings Bryan spent more time campaigning on the subject of free silver. Andrew Carnegie, no friend of Bryan’s economic populism, suddenly stopped sending funds. Supporters of McKinley’s Philippine policy blamed the anti-imperialists for prolonging the war. Wisconsin senator John Spooner read into the Congressional Record a letter from an American officer complaining that “the continuance of fighting is chiefly due to reports that are sent out here from America.”40


Also eyeing the election were the Philippine revolutionaries, who hoped that they could outlast the US Army just long enough for a Democratic administration to take power. “The presidential election… seems like a ray of hope for cessation of this war,” Emilio Aguinaldo observed in October 1900. Revolutionaries corresponded with anti-imperialists and appealed directly to American voters. Apolinario Mabini published “A Filipino Appeal” in the North American Review, widely read by anti-imperialists, expressing his hope that America’s “spirit of justice, now obscured by ambition, will again shine in the firmament.” Revolutionaries concluded that their military actions in the Philippines might swing the election. On June 27, 1900, Emilio Aguinaldo sent word to Artemio Ricarte “to employ every means… necessary for the success of our army in order that… the imperialists of the United States may have no reason to achieve a triumph in the next Presidential election.” Guerrilla attacks—and casualties—did indeed increase. So did American retaliations. Faced with setbacks on the island of Marinduque, in September 1900, General MacArthur issued dramatic orders to field officers there “to regard all the male population over fifteen years of age as enemies,” and to wage war on the island’s entire population. “Round them up and treat them as prisoners of war… until the situation is entirely cleared up,” MacArthur ordered.41


McKinley won with almost a million votes to spare. Many Americans surely voted their pocketbooks and not their foreign policies, but electoral defeat cost the anti-imperialist movement its momentum. Some of the insurgents lost faith, too. Voluntary surrenders increased noticeably in November and December, although that cannot be attributed solely to the election results, news of which did not reach remote provinces for months. Aguinaldo only learned of McKinley’s reelection on January 6, 1901, and two days later, according to an aide, “arranged to issue a manifesto to the Filipinos in arms inciting them to patriotism in order that they may not be discouraged.” Meanwhile, McKinley and his inner circle—which now included Vice President Theodore Roosevelt, the forty-one-year-old Rough Rider and hero of the Battle of San Juan Hill in Cuba—believed they had a free hand in the Philippines.42


At the same time, the troops had to come home. If members of the Anti-Imperialist League woke up the morning after Election Day with a sense of failure, they overlooked their long-term success. By questioning the establishment of a territorial empire—even if their misgivings reflected mixed and unsavory motives—the anti-imperialists checked some of the McKinley administration’s boldest ambitions. Never again would the United States attempt another full-scale acquisition and incorporation of substantial territory. The hardest part about empire was going to be persuading Americans to “bind your sons to exile,” as Rudyard Kipling had put it. Matthew Batson’s proposal, as improvisational and expedient as it initially was, looked better than ever.


THE MACABEBES WOULD BE THE ANSWER. OFFICERS’ FIELD experiments—and Macabebes’ own initiatives—presented an increasingly appealing alternative to the long-term deployment of tens of thousands of American soldiers. By March 4, 1899, news that Colonel Blanco of Macabebe had offered his townsmen’s services to McKinley reached rank-and-file soldiers in Manila. In June 1899, soon after his visit with Jacinto to Macabebe, Lieutenant Matthew Batson urged his superior, Major General Henry Lawton, to give the Filipinos a try. Lawton, a hard-fighting veteran of the Native American wars who had tracked down Geronimo in 1886 with the help of Indian Scouts, appealed directly to the new Secretary of War, Elihu Root, and secured permission to organize an initial two companies of Scouts. In August Batson won permission to form another two companies, and on September 10, 1899, Secretary Root ordered the Army to organize two more companies of Scouts. To be trained by US Army personnel, the Scouts would serve not as US Army soldiers, but as civilian employees of the Quartermaster Department, and would not be asked to take an oath of allegiance to the United States.43


When Batson returned to Macabebe that fall, he was, he told his wife, greeted with “a flag raising and a barbecue” and “treated here like a king.” Within days, he recruited 108 men, all veterans of the Spanish army. Armed with Krag-Jorgensen rifles, the new force went to work hunting down insurgents. Three more companies formed in October, tasked with “clearing the swamps and esteros [estuaries] about the head of Manila Bay of robbers and insurgents.” In September, the Scouts took their first casualties fighting off an ambush. As the soldiers’ numbers increased over the course of 1899, they won Batson a promotion. “Word comes from the Philippines that the two companies of Macabebe scouts under Capt. Batson are doing so well that it has been decided to organize a full battalion of those natives,” reported the New York Times.44


By the end of October 1899, Batson boasted to his wife that “I am king of the Maccabebes [sic] and they are terrors. Word reaches a place that the Maccabebes [sic] are coming and every Tagalo [sic] hunts his hole.” Lawton was now talking of a division, and Batson’s mouth surely watered to command it, together with the rank he would hold if the new force were officially recognized as part of the US Army—which it still was not. At the year’s end, the War Department still considered “Batson’s Scouts” to be civilian employees, not soldiers, and Lawton, who was killed in battle in December 1899, never saw the realization of his dream of a full division of Scouts. By June 1, 1900, the Scouts did, however, acquire a somewhat more official name, the Squadron of Philippine Cavalry. Major Batson (promoted again, although not to Colonel) was by this time in a military hospital in Massachusetts, wounded in battle. “It is too bad that this occurred just now,” he wrote his wife, “as no one can handle the Macabebes like I can.” Batson never fully recovered and retired from the Army altogether at the end of 1902.45


The Scouts’ benefits clearly outweighed any lingering fears of betrayal or infiltration. Officials believed Filipino soldiers would know the enemy’s personality and his territory, could survive in the tropical climate with fewer supplies than American soldiers required, and would be naturally amenable to white officers’ commands. The civilian leaders of the Philippine Commission recommended their recruitment on a large scale: Governor Taft advocated ten regiments of Scouts. Nor were Army officers unaware of the political implications back in the United States. War inevitably brought battlefield losses, observed William Johnston, who later became an officer in the Philippine Scouts. But if “such blood shed be that of Filipinos, the American public will view the enterprise with much less discontent than if each death vacated a place at an American fireside.”46


By 1900, the Scouts marched under the American flag and swore an oath to “faithfully serve the United States,” but were still not quite American soldiers. Initially employed as part of service units that would labor rather than see combat, Scouts often received no more than a few days’ training before being put to work. No matter: Colonel James Powell assured fellow officers that Filipinos “can stand drill and marching from the day of enlistment.” Quartermasters likewise deemed Scouts capable of carrying their own loads, obviating the need for hiring additional cargadores for their units. They now wore uniforms (although their clothing allowance was half that of the Americans, so they often ended up paying for them out of their own pockets), and carried the same weapons as the regular Army, “to avoid the possibility of mistaking their fire for that of the insurgents.” They brought over traditions from the Spanish colonial army and developed new soldier folklore along the way, including what one American observer described as “little pieces of paper with mysterious signs and crosses, guaranteed to entitle the holder to a seat in the seventh heaven.”47


There was a final, unofficial, but crucially important part of the recruitment process. As Captain Charles Rhodes of the 6th Cavalry explained, “Each scout was, before enlistment, invited to perform some service for the local military authorities, which would place him on record… as being an ‘Americanista,’ and would, in future, commit him to service in the American cause.” To supporters of the revolution, the Scouts were traitors—“monstrosities of nature” in one account—and indeed the word Macabebe became synonymous with betrayal. For the new Scouts, there would be no turning back.48


Some Scouts were Spanish army veterans who sought protection with the Americans, but Spain’s former indios joined both sides of the revolution, so choosing the Scouts was not a foregone conclusion. Some saw a chance for advancement: Manuel Ponferrada used his prewar experience as a private in the Spanish army to wrangle a promotion to the sergeant of a company of Scouts in Leyte province in September 1900. Social ties generated group enlistments. Lieutenant John Ward noted that “for every Filipino soldier we enlist we gain numerous friends, as his immediate family and relatives—and they usually are legion—are interested, and take sides with him.” Others, like the men who served Macabebe’s Colonel Eugenio Blanco, owed debts to local elites.49


To be sure, many Scouts signed up for the three-year term of service for the money. After Lieutenant William Wilson convinced his superior officers in November 1900 that a “pay day would have considerable weight” in recruiting Scouts, he got results. By the end of December, Wilson reported that his troops were “contented and seemingly proud to be American soldiers.” Privates in the Philippine Scouts earned $7.80 and sergeants made $15.00 per month. That was theoretically the same salary as a US Army soldier, but the Scouts were paid in Mexican silver dollars, the common currency of the Philippines, whereas American soldiers took their pay home in gold. So in practice, with an exchange ratio of two Mexican dollars to one American gold dollar, Scouts earned half the salary of their American companions. Army officials wanted it that way, repeatedly warning that Scout salaries should never exceed local wages; $7.80 “Mex” was more than enough. “The pay seems to be sufficient,” observed one indifferent Scout officer, “because the wives of the married soldiers support themselves and their children without much or any help from their husbands.” Overall, the Scouts earned more money, more consistently—and in cash—than most Filipinos in the hard times that accompanied a decade-long revolution and a violent American occupation.50


They ate better than most Filipinos, too, although not as well as the Americans. One officer observed that “a small daily ration of rice and fish” is “really all that the Filipino craves.” Major General George Davis later explained in a report to the War Department that equalizing rations would be “a waste of money.… It is self evident that the wiry little Malay does not require for his physical well-being as much food as the husky Anglo-Saxon.” Americans bought Filipino loyalty with wages, weapons, and food, but Scouts wanted to serve, and scouting was a job men wanted to keep. The force recorded far lower desertion rates than their regular army counterparts. Officers were choosy about recruitment, and it helped that Scouts were permitted “to bring their wives to the station of their company,” a policy that also meant venereal disease rates were far lower than those among US troops.51


Initially, the Scouts’ noncommissioned officers—sergeants and the like—were a mix of Americans and Filipinos, but language difficulties soon convinced Army brass that the Scouts needed Filipino noncoms, who were cheaper in any case. Initial legislation authorized Filipinos to serve as lieutenants, but the junior officer provisions were quickly phased out. “In time,” wrote Major William Johnston, “natives may have acquired a sufficient knowledge of English and of United States Army methods of administration, to discharge their duties as second lieutenants, but that time has not come.” No one ever seems to have doubted that senior officers should all be white Americans, many serving on assignment from the regular US Army. For American officers, Scout service was a less appealing post than the regular Army, but it paid more, and most attractive of all, time served counted double toward an army pension.52


The Scouts served in companies organized along ethnic and linguistic lines—Macabebes, Ilocanos, Tagalogs, Visayans, and others—each one attached to a specific US Army regiment. Although the nineteenth-century Army considered the Apaches and Cheyennes to be valuably “war-like peoples,” and the British recruited from groups they identified as “martial races,” Americans in the Philippines appear not to have valued one ethnic group over another. With one exception: Tagalog speakers, who lived near Manila and provided the most visible leadership of the revolution, were universally distrusted and rarely recruited. In the highlands, the Army coerced labor from Igorot tribesmen but did not initially hire or enlist them. While the US Navy’s Asiatic Squadron routinely tapped Chinese seamen in ports and on board ships, the Army never contemplated putting Chinese Filipinos in Scout uniforms, but they did hire them. Concerned about disloyalty and infiltration, Army officers initially planned to organize Scouts in one region and then deploy them to another, but then concluded that service in home provinces leveraged Scouts’ language skills and family connections.53


On paper, they were the Squadron of Philippine Cavalry, but few of them rode horses, even the half-sized “Chino ponies” imported from China for use in the Philippines. Instead, the Army’s Filipino recruits spent their time driving carabao, the lumbering water buffalo that carried most burdens in the Philippines. Along with other Filipinos hired as civilian laborers, Scouts did the Army’s drudge work: heavy lifting, leading teams of animals, interpreting, ferrying, and navigating. Despite their moniker as “scouts,” they only rarely did any actual scouting because they weren’t much good at it. Unlike, say, the Apaches, the men of Macabebe were peasant farmers, not range hunters, so their local knowledge was limited to the surrounding countryside. In the Philippines, domestic service was a man’s job, so civilian Filipino men did not hesitate to work as cooks, laundrymen, and valets for Army officers. But the Scouts—many of them not trained domestic servants but career veterans of the Spanish Army—sought to distinguish themselves from the poorly paid “coolies.” So they seized the most military-seeming tasks they could get their hands on, at guard posts or on reconnaissance duty.54


By the end of 1899, Scouts were regularly participating in combat, generally in supporting roles at the rear, but at times even fighting hand to hand. The Army quickly decided that Filipinos could also be useful for counterinsurgency and interrogation. General Henry Lawton thought the Macabebes were “well-behaved” despite “that they have been maligned and are falsely accused by the insurgents, who… have themselves committed outrages, representing themselves to be Macabebes.” Such double-crossing was not unheard of, but the way US Army officers harped on the ferocity of Scout warfare provided cover for American soldiers’ own depredations.55


Scouts or not, the name stuck, and in February 1901, Congress codified it into law. That year’s Army Appropriation Act formally incorporated the Philippine Scouts, authorizing the president “to enlist natives of those islands for service in the Army, to be organized as scouts, with such officers as he shall deem necessary for their proper control.” In Washington, opponents focused on contentious provisions granting the president power to increase the standing army’s size from 26,800 to 104,000 soldiers. The establishment of the Scouts, who were authorized to make up 12,000 of that expanded force (although initially their numbers were not that high) drew little comment on Capitol Hill. It did, however, draw scorn from the caustic pen of writer Mark Twain. In “The Stupendous Procession,” an essay Twain composed at some point in February or March 1901 (but never published), he created a fictional “Adjutant General” who believed “it was a good idea to persuade these hungry poor devils to turn traitor to their country and become American citizens—no, not quite that—American serfs, and murder their fathers and brothers and neighbors, and burn the humble homes that sheltered them as children.… And besides, England does it in India and in China.” Twain’s critique aside, the recruitment of Philippine Scouts scored political victories at home. Electoral victory and the promise of a reduced in-country force took some of the wind out of the sails of war critics. But the Scouts’ biggest victory—and their dirtiest, most dog-blooded work—was yet to come.56


ON THE MORNING OF FEBRUARY 8, 1901, BRIGADIER GENERAL Frederick Funston opened a telegram that arrived at the headquarters of his army detachment. Born to a prosperous family in frontier Kansas, the thirty-five-year-old “Fighting Bantam” (Funston stood just five feet four inches tall) was an aggressive, self-promotional veteran of imperial warfare, equally passionate about the poetry of Rudyard Kipling and the US conquest of the Philippines. His earlier exploits with the 20th Kansas Infantry, which he commanded, had already been awarded the Medal of Honor. The news over the wire was promising. In a nearby village, American soldiers had captured some revolutionary soldiers, and the telegram hinted that one among them might be a messenger for Emilio Aguinaldo. The hard-bitten Funston, who already had a reputation for harsh measures, sent for the man, Cecilio Segismundo.


In Spanish, which Funston spoke well, the two conversed about General Aguinaldo and his whereabouts. Conversation then turned to interrogation and—although Funston later denied it—almost certainly to torture. Within hours, the Americans had learned that Segismundo’s dispatches contained the information they wanted, if only they could decipher them. Bewildered by the secret code in which they were written, Funston called for Lázaro Segovia, a Spanish soldier who had joined up with the revolution, then defected to the Americans. The two men set to work. “We took off our coats and even other things, in fact, stripped for action, and with pencils and pads of paper seated ourselves around a table and racked our brains, while Patterson, our negro soldier cook, from time to time brought in copious libations of hot and strong coffee.” Segovia, who knew Spanish and Tagalog, soon cracked the code and uncovered Aguinaldo’s location.57


Unbeknownst to Funston, Aguinaldo and his men were in trouble. At their mountain hideout, the revolutionaries were running out of food and ammunition, short of manpower, and gripped by terror. They feared infiltration by Philippine Scouts, betrayal by local townspeople, or death at the hands of the nearby Igorot settlers, whose ritual headhunting practices so frightened soldiers that Aguinaldo’s chief of staff, Colonel Simeon Villa, observed his men “crawling along on all fours and weeping.” Despite their terror of the Igorots, the revolutionaries depended on their labor, and when they could not hire them “because they had all hidden themselves,” they impressed them into service. Weakened but unbowed, Aguinaldo still eluded capture.58


Back at headquarters, Funston and Segovia hatched a plan. Funston and four American officers would disguise themselves as prisoners, and a group of eighty Macabebe Scouts would pose as revolutionaries. Funston ordered the men to dress in “second-hand material, as it would not do for the men to look neat,” and armed the Scouts with Remingtons and Mausers—the weapons the insurgents carried, rather than the Americans’ Krag-Jorgensen rifles. As Aguinaldo would later observe, Funston “had the knack of utilizing rascals and renegades for his own purposes,” and Funston now gathered his men. “The little ‘Macs,’ as we called them, were quite enthusiastic over the whole proposition,” among them the first sergeant of Company D, Pedro Bustos, “a little shrivelled old fellow.” Bustos was a veteran of years of service with the Spanish; when asked by Funston to swear his loyalty before launching the mission, he assured the general that “I am a soldier of the United States.”59


Marching nearly one hundred miles through the mountain highlands of northern Luzon, the group finally reached Aguinaldo’s camp on March 23, 1901, the day after Emilio Aguinaldo’s thirty-second birthday. The Scouts approached his headquarters to present the “prisoners,” and minutes later ambushed the building, shouting, “Hurrah for the Macabebes!” Entering the main room, a burly Scout and former revolutionary soldier by the name of Hilario Tal Placido grabbed the short and wiry general (who weighed in at 115 pounds), threw him to the ground, and—dramatically, if not quite heroically—sat on him. The revolutionaries surrendered, and celebrations ensued, the Scouts chanting in Spanish, “What’s the matter with the Macabebes? They’re all right. Who’s all right? The Macabebes.” Funston later recalled that “there was some difficulty in getting under control the wildly excited Macabebes.… A lot of them insisted in throwing their arms about us.”60


News coverage in the US press credited Frederick Funston, but it was the Scouts who had captured Aguinaldo. Funston had remained outside the building in mock captivity the entire time. But the daring raid was not without criticism. Some observed that Funston’s methods violated the laws of war, which barred the use of bribery to encourage enemy soldiers to betray their own armies. Funston’s defenders were quick to point out that the Philippine Scouts were not America’s enemies, and thus had been paid and not bribed. Funston later dismissed the criticisms as the views of “lady-like persons.”61


Taken into custody in his finest blue suit, Aguinaldo accompanied Funston and the Scouts to Manila. They arrived at the US headquarters at Manila’s Malacañang Palace on March 28, 1901, at 6:30 a.m., with Funston proudly announcing to the pajama-clad General Arthur MacArthur that “I have brought you Don Emilio.” Later, properly dressed, MacArthur met with his military adversary. Governor Taft thought Aguinaldo should be imprisoned at the former Spanish fort at Guam, but MacArthur had another idea. On April 1, 1901, the revolutionary general swore an oath to “acknowledge and accept the supreme authority of the United States” and to “act at all times as a faithful and loyal citizen,” and urged his fellow revolutionaries to lay down their arms. Twenty thousand revolutionary soldiers followed Aguinaldo’s lead. MacArthur, in turn, issued another amnesty proclamation and released 2,000 political prisoners in two months. Aguinaldo’s capture fractured the revolutionary movement. Juan Villamor, a second lieutenant who had deserted the Spanish to join the Army of the Philippine Republic, felt Aguinaldo’s actions betrayed ordinary revolutionary soldiers. “In our humble opinion, these comrades of ours were handed over like sheep used for consumption to the butcher.”62


Decades later, in 1968, ninety-one-year-old revolutionary veteran Marcelo Canania told an oral history interviewer about the frustration and disappointment that followed Aguinaldo’s capture. “Aguinaldo, he is the one that fought against America.… He lost and so he sold us to the Americans. That’s why we have faith and, no more fight.… So the fight give up. We wouldn’t fight anymore.” Canania was wrong about the revolutionaries, who continued fighting. In the city of Cebu, General Juan Climaco insisted that “the capture of General Aguinaldo… should not discourage us” because “the essence of the revolution resides in its ideals and convictions.” Under dispersed leadership and with limited resources, the guerrillas carried on their struggle without their original leader, who was charismatic and strategic, but never the sole source of their inspiration.63


But, so many years later, what made Canania choose the word “sold”? As the revolution unraveled, Aguinaldo’s fellow leader Isabelo de los Reyes begged his countrymen: “My brothers, let us unite. Let us not betray one another.” In his plea, de los Reyes imagined a Philippine nation forged out of common revolutionary struggle and without economic incentives. But Canania touched on the heart of the matter: that every armed force is simultaneously a utopian political project and a mundane labor system.64


The distance from utopia to the mundane could be traveled quite quickly. After revolutionary general Daniel Tirona surrendered to the Americans in Cagayan in January 1900, his lieutenant reported to Aguinaldo that the general, “in order to ingratiate himself with his master, the American captain, is acting as his personal servant.” The junior officer marveled that Tirona was “now trying to secure for him the most exquisite meals possible, and now washing the dishes and quarrelling with the cook and private servants of the captain.” Equally appalled were the people of Cagayan, particularly “the ex-officers, natives of that province,” who called Tirona to his face “a thief of the blackest dye, a man of dishonor, a coward, etc.” Whether denounced as dog-blooded Macabebes or insulted by the townspeople of Cagayan, Filipinos in the service of the United States quickly learned that the overlapping roles of soldier and laborer carried political weight.65


In “The White Man’s Burden,” when poet Rudyard Kipling urged readers to “go bind your sons to exile,” he didn’t mean some Filipino mother’s sons. But the tactic worked just as well, perhaps even better. Initially reluctant to arm and train the Philippine Scouts, US Army officers soon found themselves dependent on them, especially as the War Department sent home nearly half the US Army regulars in 1901. By 1903, the 5,000 Philippine Scouts represented 40 percent of the US troops in the Philippines. By pursuing occupation on the cheap, the United States bound Filipinos’ civic aims to the demands of US foreign policy, but compensated them with safety, status, and cold hard cash. Widely acknowledged as a successful improvised response to a changing war, the Scouts became something more. On the morning that Arthur MacArthur and William McKinley read in the newspapers of Aguinaldo’s capture, they must have been pleased. They had won the election, they thought the war was almost over, and they believed they had heard the last from either the insurrectos or the Anti-Imperialist League. But the war was going to get worse before it got better.















CHAPTER TWO



DEFENDING THE PACIFIC


1901–1914


BY THE SUMMER OF 1901, WITH EMILIO AGUINALDO CAPTURED in the mountains of Luzon province, the anti-imperialists silenced at the voting booth, and William Howard Taft installed as the head of a new civil government, the American occupation of the Philippines entered a new phase. In the field, General Arthur MacArthur, who believed the election victory offered a free hand on the battlefield, went on the offensive against the struggling Army of the Philippine Republic. Meanwhile, Governor Taft launched his own assault on the republic’s political remnants using a new force, the Philippine Constabulary, a quasi-military police outfit established that summer and meant to complement the Philippine Scouts. As both Americans and Filipinos soon discovered, policing was not far removed from war and had consequences as enduring as the war itself, because it wove surveillance and repression into the fabric of Filipino politics.


Nor did the war end overnight. Almost every technique the Americans used to pacify the Philippines—political pressure, amnesty offers, deportation to island penal colonies, outright torture—had been tried before by Spain. And just as the Spanish found, none of it worked. Armed resistance and underground political mobilization persisted. Brutal violence persisted, and Americans at home learned of the “marked severities” US forces were meting out to Filipino guerrillas. Consequently, a political firestorm briefly erupted in the spring of 1902. Faced with an unpopular and expensive war, Theodore Roosevelt—who had ascended to the presidency after an assassin’s bullet killed President William McKinley in September 1901—accelerated the plan to end to the war and bring US troops home. By 1903, most of the US Army soldiers were gone, with the Scouts set to carry out many of the day-to-day tasks of protecting America’s new colony.


The global context shifted suddenly after Japan’s stunning wartime defeat of Russia in 1905. Faced with a new military and naval power in the Pacific, Theodore Roosevelt’s Great White Fleet soon steamed into Manila Bay and on board were America’s first Filipino sailors. Building on the foundation laid during the first days of the Philippine-American War, the United States developed new military institutions in Washington and constructed a network of forts and bases in the Philippines. Together they signaled a permanent commitment to American power in Asia. That system relied on Filipinos—the Scouts, the Constabulary, the Navy—in an elaborate hierarchy of military service that bound the two nations together.


Emilio Aguinaldo’s dream of an independent Philippine Republic never went away, even as the Philippine-American War wound down to an ambiguous conclusion. Filipinos would learn to be partners in violence if not partners in power. The Pacific would need to be defended, and Filipinos would be doing the defending.


ON DECEMBER 20, 1900, GENERAL ARTHUR MACARTHUR LAUNCHED “a new and more stringent policy” aimed at breaking the links between the guerrillas and the towns that supported them. “The more drastic the application the better,” he ordered. MacArthur printed 10,000 copies of General Orders no. 100, a harsh Civil War–era military regulation governing occupation and guerrilla warfare. Promulgated in English, Spanish, and Tagalog, the text informed Filipinos that anyone aiding the guerrillas would be treated as an enemy combatant. The new orders demanded that local leaders “lead the American forces to the insurgent hiding-places,” one soldier later wrote, “and if they failed to do so they would… suffer the consequences.” MacArthur knew the order gave his ruthless measures the protections of law, the honor of civilized warfare, and a place in American military tradition. A Southerner, Captain John Jordan, serving with the US Army on the island of Marinduque, wrote his mother that “if we should go out here and carry on a war as Sherman did in his march to the sea we would bring every one of them to submission quickly.” As Americans and Filipinos amplified their attacks, the Philippines descended in a downward spiral of violence that did not end after Aguinaldo’s surrender.1


In July 1901, with Taft in the governor’s chair and orders from Secretary of War Elihu Root to “get the Army out of the business of government,” Major General Adna Chaffee took over from MacArthur as commanding officer in the Philippines. The sixty-year-old Civil War veteran was no stranger to military action in Asia, having just led the American forces in a multi-imperial effort to crush the Boxer Rebellion in China. But Chaffee settled into the Army’s Manila headquarters at Fort Santiago with some trepidation. “The natives do not love us or our ways.” As Chaffee knew well, guerrilla warfare continued, with insurgent strength concentrated in particular regions, while ordinary Filipinos hedged their bets, unwilling to accommodate themselves politically to the American colonial regime. Just after arriving in the Philippines, Chaffee announced a plan to concentrate US forces in fewer, larger garrisons. The Army would save money, and soldiers could go home. “The duty of preserving peace and order… has thus been remitted to the civil authorities,” Chaffee announced, washing his hands of the problem.2


Resistance to American rule in nominally pacified areas posed a challenge for Taft’s new civil government for which the governor had no easy answer. Calling in the US Army to quell unrest would be tantamount to admitting that civilian rule was a failure, and the Army lacked the linguistic and geographic knowledge needed to destroy insurgents’ underground urban networks. But existing police forces were inadequate in number, training, or loyalty. Taft had many weapons in his arsenal: he severely restricted Filipinos’ assemblies and publications, at times with measures so stringent that even the Army objected. Beginning in January 1901, American authorities began transporting insurgents to a Navy-operated prison colony on the island of Guam, some 1,500 miles away. Among the first deported was the political mastermind Apolinario Mabini, shipped out in January 1901.3


Taft needed an army that wasn’t the US Army. His solution was an Insular Constabulary, a new national police force that would be staffed by Filipinos. The Constabulary was a thinly veiled army, but because they were policemen and not soldiers, they would report to Governor Taft and not—like the Scouts—to his political rivals in the US Army. The governor asked Luke Wright, the vice governor of the Philippines and head of police and prisons in the new civil government, to plan a “native police force.” As a Confederate army veteran from Tennessee and a lifelong Democrat, the fifty-five-year-old Wright was an anomaly in the McKinley administration, but he was an enthusiast for the new force, and—over Adna Chaffee’s objections—on July 18, 1901, the Philippine Commission established an Insular Constabulary “for the purpose of better maintaining peace, law and order.”4


The Insular Constabulary set up headquarters in Manila in the former offices of the Spanish Guardia Civil—geographically and symbolically located in between the Army’s headquarters at Fort Santiago and Governor Taft’s residence at Malacañang Palace. Major Henry Allen took command. The forty-two-year-old West Point grad stood over six feet tall and kept a meticulous uniform, even in the tropics. A fellow officer remembered him as “one of the handsomest men I have ever seen.” After a brief tour of duty in Cuba in 1898, Allen was named military governor of the province of Samar in January 1900. Like Matthew Batson had done in Macabebe a few months earlier, Major Allen improvised a company of Scouts who he thought would be of “inestimable value… in ferreting out insurgents and criminals and in understanding… the natives with whom we have to deal.” Allen thought that the Constabulary—and the pacification policy it supported—was a must-win for America’s new venture in Asia. “Our proposition out here is small” compared with other empires, Allen told a fellow officer, “and it would be a confession of great weakness and incapacity on our part if we could not properly govern such a situation as this.”5


Allen relished the task of building up “a little army from the cellar to the roof,” recruiting a handful of dashing, energetic, gifted young officers, some of whom would later go on to successful military careers. Allen attracted some by offering American noncommissioned officers in the US Volunteers positions as officers in the Constabulary at ranks—and salaries—they could never dream of in the Army. Most Constabulary officers, though, were made of more modest stuff. American soldiers generally saw the Insular Constabulary as a dead-end job, and its command attracted a congeries of unsavory types. Among its officers were soldiers of fortune who had already served in the armies of a half-dozen other nations.6


Recruiting ordinary Filipinos to serve in the Constabulary wasn’t easy, either. The work was not well paid: unlike the Scouts, whose wages were set by Congress, constables earned different amounts in each province. A first sergeant never made more than $25.00 a month, and a second-class private could earn as little as $10.00 a month, supplemented by a meager daily food allowance. Still, constables earned more than municipal policemen, so many left city police forces to join. Some were veterans of the Guardia Civil who found hometown service more appealing than enlisting in the Scouts. Others came from cells in Bilibid Prison, where judges offered convicted criminals the choice of a prison sentence or constabulary service. Americans paid for the Philippine Scouts through the US military budget, but the colonial government funded the Constabulary directly from the islands’ revenues, with no burden on US taxpayers. The Constabulary was cheap, and it showed: the force was never as prestigious, as well equipped, or as disciplined as the Scouts. If the Scouts were treated like second-class soldiers, the Constabulary men were distinctly third-class, without medicine or tools, outfitted with no mosquito nets, no shoes, nor even underwear.7


Inequalities between the two forces resulted in part from tensions between the Army and the civilian government. The Army predicted the Constabulary would endanger the islands’ stability and the military’s prestige with it. They feared journalists, politicians, and voters back home would attribute any disorder in the Philippines to the Army. Enlisted men disdained the ragtag men of the Insular Constabulary, joking among themselves that the letters “I.C.” on the constables’ collars stood for “Inspected and Condemned.” Officers were no more enthusiastic. Carl Stone, a captain in the Philippine Scouts, vented his frustration in letters home. The biggest problem, Stone explained to his mother, was how the Constabulary opened the door for infiltration and espionage by Filipino ladrones, or thieves. “You see, we have to submit all plans to the Chief of Constabulary, and of course half a dozen niggers in his office see them, and then of course, also, the Ladrones.”8
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